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Dear Attorney Mirto: 

This letter confirms the plea agreement entered into between your client, William Todd
Bingham (the “defendant”), and the United States Attorney's Office for the District of
Connecticut (the “Government”) concerning the referenced criminal matter.

The Pleas and Offenses

The defendant, William Todd Bingham, agrees to waive his right to be indicted and to
plead guilty to a two-count Substitute Information charging him in Count One with wire fraud in
violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and charging him in Count Two with money laundering in
violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1957.  The defendant expressly waives any claims as to improper
venue with respect to the offenses charged in the Substitute Information.

The defendant understands that to be guilty of Count One of the Substitute Information
alleging wire fraud in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1343, the following essential elements must
be satisfied:

1.  The defendant participated in a scheme or artifice to defraud or to obtain
money or property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses or
representations;

2.   The defendant did so with the specific intent to defraud; and

3.  In furtherance of the scheme to defraud, the defendant used or caused to be
used interstate wires, as specified in the Substitute Information.
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The defendant understands that to be guilty of Count Two of the Substitute Information
alleging money laundering in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. § 1957, the following essential
elements must be satisfied:

1. The defendant engaged in a monetary transaction in or affecting interstate
commerce;

2. The monetary transaction involved criminally derived property of a value greater
than $10,000;

3. The property was derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud;

4. The criminally derived property constituted profits of a criminal offense;

5. The defendant acted knowingly, that is, with knowledge that the transaction
involved profits of a criminal offense; and

6. The transaction took place in the United States.

In addition, the defendant agrees to a finding of forfeiture in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)
and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).  By this, he agrees to forfeit the property listed in the Forfeiture
Allegation Section of the Substitute Information and listed below in the “Forfeiture” paragraph of
this plea letter.  The defendant understands that in order to forfeit this property, he must admit
that it represents proceeds of the wire fraud offense charged in Count One.

The Penalties

The wire fraud charge in Count One of the Substitute Information carries a maximum
penalty of twenty years in prison.  In addition, under 18 U.S.C. § 3583, the Court may impose a
term of supervised release of not more than three years, to begin at the expiration of any term of
imprisonment imposed.  The defendant understands that should he violate any condition of the
supervised release during its term, he may be required to serve a further term of imprisonment of
up to two years with no credit for the time already spent on supervised release.  Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 3561, the Court also may impose a sentence of probation for a period of between one
and five years.

Count Two of the Substitute Information, charging the defendant with money laundering
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957, carries a maximum penalty of ten years in prison.  Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 3583, the Court may impose a term of supervised release of not more than three
years, to begin at the expiration of any term of imprisonment imposed.  The defendant
understands that should he violate any condition of the supervised release during its term, he may
be required to serve a further term of imprisonment of up to two years with no credit for the time
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already spent on supervised release.  Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3561, the Court also may impose a
sentence of probation for a period of between one and five years.

For both of the counts to which the defendant is pleading, the defendant also is subject to
the alternative fine provision of 18 U.S.C. § 3571.  Under this section, the maximum fine that
may be imposed on the defendant is the greatest of the following amounts: (1) twice the gross
gain to the defendant resulting from the offense; (2) twice the gross loss resulting from the
offense; (3) $250,000; or (4) the amount specified in the section defining the offense.

The defendant also is subject to criminal forfeiture of the property listed in the Forfeiture
Allegation Section of the Substitute Information and listed below in the “Forfeiture” paragraph of
this plea letter.

In addition, the defendant is obligated by 18 U.S.C. § 3013 to pay a special assessment of
$100 per count of conviction.  The defendant agrees to pay the special assessment to the Clerk of
the Court on the day of sentencing.

Unless otherwise ordered, should the Court impose a fine of more than $2,500 as part of
the sentence, interest will be charged on the unpaid balance of a fine amount not paid within 15
days after the judgment date.  18 U.S.C. § 3612(f).  Other penalties and fines may be assessed on
the unpaid balance of a fine pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 3572 (h), (i) and § 3612(g).

Finally, as set forth below, it is understood that the defendant will pay past taxes due and
owing by him to the IRS, including applicable penalties and interest, if any, on such terms and
conditions as will be agreed upon between him and the IRS.  In addition, the defendant will not
contest the applicability of civil fraud penalties and agrees not to file any claims for refunds of
taxes, penalties or interest for amounts attributable to the returns filed incident to the plea.

Restitution

In addition to the other penalties provided by law, the Court must also order that the
defendant make restitution under 18 U.S.C. §3663A.  The order of restitution may include that
the defendant reimburse the victims for lost income and necessary child care, transportation, and
other expenses incurred during participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or
attendance at proceedings related to the offense. The scope and effect of the order of restitution
are set forth in the attached Rider Concerning Restitution.  Restitution is payable immediately
unless ordered otherwise by the Court.

In addition, the defendant agrees not to transfer or otherwise encumber his assets except
as necessary to pay ordinary living expenses, ordinary business expenses and attorneys fees.  The
defendant agrees as part of this agreement that he will provide to the United States detailed and
accurate information identifying all of his income, assets, expenses and liabilities within 45 days
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of the date of this agreement in a format requested by the United States and will truthfully answer
all questions relative to his finances.

Tax Liabilities

The defendant agrees that he failed to file U.S. Individual Income Tax Returns for the
calendar years 2001 through 2006.  The defendant agrees to do one of the following prior to the
date of sentencing: (1) file U.S. Individual Income Tax Returns for 2001 through 2006; or (2)
agree to the civil tax adjustments calculated by the IRS by signing Forms 4549 for those years. 
The defendant further agrees to provide to the IRS any information requested regarding the
defendant’s individual tax liabilities for the years 2001 through 2007.  In addition, the defendant
agrees to waive the statute of limitations with respect to the assessment and collection of his
taxes due and owing for these tax years.  The defendant hereby specifically and irrevocably
stipulates and agrees not to contest the tax liabilities and deficiencies and related penalties for the
years covered by this agreement. 

The defendant further agrees to pay to the IRS the taxes, penalties, and interest due and
owing by him within a reasonable time to be worked out by the defendant and the IRS.  The
defendant understands that interest as fixed by statute will continue to accrue until his civil tax
liabilities are fully paid.  Nothing in this agreement shall limit the authority of the IRS to collect
the defendant’s tax liabilities in any manner authorized by law.  Also, this agreement does not
bind the IRS concerning civil tax matters that may be pending or that may arise involving the
defendant.

Forfeiture

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), and based on his commission of
the illegal acts of wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 as charged in Count One of the
Substitute Information, the defendant agrees to forfeit the following property:

(i) Certain real property located at 8307 East 370th Road, Oologah, Oklahoma
74053, more fully described in Attachment A to this Plea Agreement, with all
appurtenances and improvements thereon; and

(ii) a sum of money equal to the total value of all assets that are forfeitable pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), and which money judgment
amount shall be offset by the value, or portion of value, of each of the above-
listed, specifically identified assets that is ultimately forfeited to the United States.

The defendant acknowledges that each of the above-listed assets (the “forfeitable assets”)
is subject to forfeiture as proceeds traceable to violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343.  The defendant
agrees to take all steps as requested by the United States to pass clear title to all of the forfeitable
assets to the United States, to share truthful information with agents and representatives of the
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United States about any facts and claims concerning the assets, and to testify truthfully in any
judicial forfeiture proceeding.

The defendant agrees to waive all interests in each of the forfeitable assets, in any
administrative or judicial forfeiture proceeding, whether criminal or civil, state or federal.  The
defendant agrees to consent to the entry of orders of forfeiture for each of the forfeitable assets,
and waives the requirements of Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 32.2 and 43(a) regarding
notice of the forfeiture in the charging instrument, announcement of the forfeiture at sentencing,
and incorporation of the forfeiture in the judgment.  The defendant acknowledges that he
understands that the forfeiture of assets is part of the sentence that may be imposed in this case
and waives any failure by the Court to advise him of this, pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 11(b)(1)(J), at the time his guilty plea to the wire fraud offense in Count One is
accepted.

The defendant further agrees that he shall not, directly or indirectly, sell, assign, transfer,
convey, donate, convert, pledge, encumber, collateralize, liquidate, fail to conduct ordinary
maintenance of, diminish the value of, or otherwise dispose of, any of the forfeitable assets,
except upon prior approval of the Court upon notice to the United States and an opportunity for
the United States to be heard.  The defendant further agrees that the United States is authorized to
take actions, if necessary, to secure the availability of said assets for forfeiture, including but not
limited to, filing notices of lis pendens on the land records for the real property described above.

Defendant understands that, if any of the above-described property, as a result of any act
or omission of defendant: (a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; (b) has been
transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person; (c) has been placed beyond the
jurisdiction of the Court; (d) has been substantially diminished in value; or (e) has been
commingled with other property which cannot be subdivided without difficulty, it is the intent of
the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of
any other property of said defendant up to the value of the above forfeitable property.  In the
event that any of the aforementioned conditions (a) through (e) occur with respect to the above-
described property, defendant will not oppose or object to the United States’s efforts to recover
“substitute assets” as provided herein.

The defendant agrees to hold the United States, its agents and employees harmless from
any claims whatsoever in connection with the seizure or forfeiture of the above-listed assets
covered by this agreement.  The defendant further agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory
challenges in any manner (including direct appeal, habeas corpus, or any other means) to any
forfeiture carried out in accordance with this plea agreement on any grounds, including that the
forfeiture constitutes an excessive fine or punishment.  The defendant also understands and
agrees that by virtue of his plea of guilty he waives any rights or cause of action to claim that he
is a “substantially prevailing party” for the purpose of recovery of attorney fees and other
litigation costs in any related forfeiture proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2465(b)(1).
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Sentencing Guidelines

1.  Applicability

The defendant understands that although application of the United States Sentencing
Guidelines is not mandatory, they are advisory and the Court is required to consider any
applicable Sentencing Guidelines as well as other factors enumerated in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) to
tailor an appropriate sentence in this case.  See United States v. Booker, 125 S. Ct. 738 (2005). 
The defendant expressly understands that the Sentencing Guideline determinations will be made
by the Court, by a preponderance of the evidence, based upon input from the defendant, the
Government, and the United States Probation Officer who prepares the presentence investigation
report.  The defendant further understands that he has no right to withdraw his guilty pleas if his
sentence or the Guideline application is other than he anticipated.

2.  Acceptance of Responsibility

At this time, the Government agrees to recommend that the Court reduce by two levels
the defendant's Adjusted Offense Level under section 3E1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines, based
on the defendant's prompt recognition and affirmative acceptance of personal responsibility for
the offenses.  Moreover, the Government intends to file a motion with the Court pursuant to
§3E1.1(b) recommending that the Court reduce defendant’s Adjusted Offense Level by one
additional level based on the defendant’s prompt notification of his intention to enter pleas of
guilty.  This recommendation is conditioned upon the defendant's full, complete, and truthful
disclosure to the Probation Office of information requested, of the circumstances surrounding his
commission of the offenses, of his criminal history, and of his financial condition.  In addition,
this recommendation is conditioned upon the defendant timely providing complete information
to the Government concerning his involvement in the offenses to which he is pleading guilty. 
The defendant expressly understands that the Court is not obligated to accept the Government's
recommendation on the reduction.

The Government will not make this recommendation if the defendant engages in any acts
which (1) indicate that the defendant has not terminated or withdrawn from criminal conduct or
associations (Sentencing Guideline § 3E1.1); (2) could provide a basis for an adjustment for
obstructing or impeding the administration of justice (Sentencing Guideline § 3C1.1); or (3)
constitute a violation of any condition of release.  Moreover, the Government will not make this
recommendation if the defendant seeks to withdraw his pleas of guilty.  The defendant expressly
understands that he may not withdraw his pleas of guilty if, for the reasons explained above, the
Government does not make this recommendation.
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3.  Stipulation

Pursuant to section 6B1.4 of the Sentencing Guidelines, the defendant and the
Government have entered into a stipulation of offense conduct which is attached to and made a
part of this plea agreement.  The defendant understands that this stipulation does not purport to
set forth all of the relevant conduct and characteristics that may be considered by the Court for
purposes of sentencing.  The defendant expressly understands that this stipulation is not binding
on the Court.  The defendant also understands that the Government and the United States
Probation Office are obligated to advise the Court of any additional relevant facts that
subsequently come to their attention.

4.  Guideline Calculation

The Government and the defendant calculate the defendant's applicable Sentencing
Guidelines as follows: 

With respect to the wire fraud offense charged in Count One, the base offense level,
pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(a)(1), is seven.  Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(1)(J), the
defendant's offense level should be increased by eighteen levels to reflect aggregate losses of
more than $2,500,000, but less than $7,000,000.  Two levels are added under U.S.S.G. §
2B1.1(b)(2) to reflect the fact that the offense involved more than 10 victims, but less than 50
victims.  It is the Government’s position that two levels are added under U.S.S.G.
§ 2B1.1(b)(9)(C) because the offense involved sophisticated means and the defendant’s offense
level for the wire fraud offense charged in Count One is, therefore, 29.  The defendant reserves
the right to argue that the offense did not involve sophisticated means under U.S.S.G. §
2B1.1(b)(9)(C) and, as a result, the defendant’s offense level for the wire fraud offense charged
in Count One is, therefore, 27.  

With respect to the money laundering offense charged in Count Two, the base offense
level is either 29 or 27, depending on whether the offense involved sophisticated means under
U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(9)(C).  The parties further agree that, pursuant to U.S.S.G. 2S1.1(b)(2)(A),
one additional level is added to reflect the defendant’s conviction in Count Two for a violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1957.  As a result, the defendant’s offense level for the money laundering offense
charged in Count Two is 30 or 28, depending on whether the offense involved sophisticated
means under U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(9)(C).

Three levels are subtracted under U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1 for acceptance of responsibility, as
noted above, resulting in a total offense level of 27 or 25, depending on whether the offense
involved sophisticated means under U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(9)(C).  

Based on the information available to the parties at this time, including information from
the defendant himself, it appears that the defendant is in criminal history Category I.  An adjusted
offense level of 27, with an anticipated criminal history category of Category I, yields a
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sentencing range of 70-87 months’ imprisonment (sentencing table) and a fine guidelines range
of between $12,500 and $125,000 (U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2(c)(3)).  Similarly, an adjusted offense level
of 25, with an anticipated criminal history category of Category I, yields a sentencing range of
57-71 months’ imprisonment (sentencing table) and a fine guidelines range of between $10,000
and $100,000 (U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2(c)(3)).

Neither party will seek any further adjustments to the guidelines calculations set forth
herein.  The defendant reserves the right to seek any downward departures (see U.S.S.G. Chapter
5, Part K) that he believes may be applicable and further reserves the right to advocate the
imposition of a non-guidelines sentence.  The Government reserves the right to oppose any such
requests. 

The defendant acknowledges that this guideline stipulation is only between the parties to
this agreement and, as such, does not bind the Probation Department or the Court.  He also
understands that his criminal history category is subject to final determination by the Court.  The
defendant further expressly understands that he will not be permitted to withdraw the pleas of
guilty if the guidelines range calculated by the Court or the sentence imposed by the Court is
outside the Guideline range or fine range set forth in this agreement.  The defendant also
understands that the Government and the United States Probation Office are obligated to advise
the Court of additional relevant facts that come to their attention. 

In the event the Probation Office or the Court contemplates any sentencing calculations
different from those stipulated by the parties, the parties reserve the right to respond to any
inquiries and make appropriate legal arguments in support of, or in opposition to, the proposed
alternate calculations.  Moreover, the Government expressly reserves the right to challenge or
defend any sentencing determination, other than that stipulated by the parties, in any post-
sentencing proceeding.
 

5.  Waiver of Right to Appeal or Collaterally Attack Sentence

The defendant acknowledges that under certain circumstances he is entitled to appeal his
conviction and sentence.  It is specifically agreed that the defendant will not appeal or collaterally
attack in any proceeding, including but not limited to a motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 and/or
§2241, the conviction or sentence of imprisonment imposed by the Court if that sentence does
not exceed 87 months’ imprisonment, even if the Court imposes such a sentence based on an
analysis different from that specified above.  If the sentence does exceed 87 months’
imprisonment, the defendant may appeal the sentence only, not the underlying conviction.  The
defendant expressly acknowledges that he is knowingly and intelligently waiving his appellate
rights.
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6.   Information to the Court

The Government expressly reserves its right to address the Court with respect to an
appropriate sentence to be imposed in this case.  Moreover, it is expressly understood that the
Government will discuss the facts of this case, including information regarding the defendant’s
background and character, 18 U.S.C. § 3661, with the United States Probation Office and will
provide the Probation Officer with access to its file, with the exception of grand jury material.

Waiver of Rights

1.  Waiver of Right to Indictment

The defendant understands that he has the right to have the facts of this case presented to
a federal grand jury, consisting of between sixteen and twenty-three citizens, twelve of whom
would have to find probable cause to believe that he committed the offenses set forth in the
Substitute Information before an indictment could be returned.  The defendant expressly
acknowledges that he is waiving his right to be indicted knowingly and intelligently.

2.  Waiver of Trial Rights and Consequences of Plea

The defendant understands that he has the right to be represented by an attorney at every
stage of the proceeding and, if necessary, one will be appointed to represent him.

The defendant understands that he has the right to plead not guilty or to persist in that
plea if it has already been made, the right to be tried by a jury with the assistance of counsel, the
right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him, the right not to be compelled to
incriminate himself, and the right to compulsory process for the attendance of witnesses to testify
in his defense.  The defendant understands that by pleading guilty he waives and gives up those
rights and that if the pleas of guilty are accepted by the Court, there will not be a further trial of
any kind.  

The defendant understands that if he pleads guilty, the Court may ask him questions about
each offense to which he pleads guilty, and if he answers those questions falsely under oath, on
the record, and in the presence of counsel, his answers may later be used against him in a
prosecution for perjury or making false statements.

3.  Waiver of Statute of Limitations

The defendant understands and agrees that should the conviction following defendant’s
pleas of guilty pursuant to this plea agreement be vacated for any reason, then any prosecution
that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this
plea agreement (including any indictment or counts the Government has agreed to dismiss at
sentencing pursuant to this plea agreement) may be commenced or reinstated against defendant,
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notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of limitations between the signing of this plea
agreement and the commencement or reinstatement of such prosecution.  The defendant agrees to
waive all defenses based on the statute of limitations with respect to any prosecution that is not
time-barred on the date the plea agreement is signed.

4.  Waiver of Right To Post-Conviction DNA Testing of Physical Evidence

The defendant understands that under 18 U.S.C. § 3600, he has the right, under certain
circumstances, to post-conviction DNA testing of evidence in the Government’s possession in
support of a claim that he is actually innocent of the offenses to which he is pleading guilty under
this plea agreement.  The defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to have such
DNA testing performed on the physical evidence in this case and his right to file a petition under
18 U.S.C. § 3600 to compel that testing.  The defendant fully understands that because he is
waiving this right, the physical evidence in this case likely will be destroyed or will otherwise be
unavailable for DNA testing in the future.

5.  Waiver of FOIA Rights

The defendant hereby waives all rights, whether asserted directly or by a representative, to
request or receive any department or agency of the United States any records pertaining to the
investigation or prosecution of this case, including without limitation any records that may be
sought under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, or the Privacy Act of 1974, 5
U.S.C. § 522a.

Acknowledgment of Guilt; Voluntariness of Plea

The defendant acknowledges that he is entering into this agreement and is pleading guilty
freely and voluntarily because he is guilty.  The defendant further acknowledges that he is
entering into this agreement without reliance upon any discussions between the Government and
him (other than those described in the plea agreement letter), without promise of benefit of any
kind (other than the concessions contained in the plea agreement letter), and without threats,
force, intimidation, or coercion of any kind.  The defendant further acknowledges his
understanding of the nature of the offenses to which he is pleading guilty, including the penalties
provided by law.  The defendant also acknowledges his complete satisfaction with the
representation and advice received from his undersigned attorney.  The defendant and his
undersigned counsel are unaware of any conflict of interest concerning counsel's representation
of the defendant in the case.

Scope of Agreement

The defendant acknowledges and understands that this agreement is limited to the
undersigned parties and cannot bind any other federal authority, or any state or local authority. 
The defendant acknowledges that no representations have been made to him with respect to any
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civil or administrative consequences that may result from these pleas of guilty because such
matters are solely within the province and discretion of the specific administrative or
governmental entity involved.  Finally, the defendant understands and acknowledges that this
agreement has been reached without regard to any civil tax matters that may be pending or which
may arise involving him. 

As noted, the defendant understands and acknowledges that this agreement has been
reached without regard to any civil tax matters that may be pending or which may arise involving
him.  However, the defendant does agree to meet with Revenue Agents of the Internal Revenue
Service within thirty days of the entry of his guilty pleas to ascertain the tax, penalties and
interest due and owing for the years under investigation, 2001-2007, and to establish a payment
schedule.

Collateral Consequences

The defendant further understands that he will be adjudicated guilty of the offenses to
which he has pleaded guilty and will be deprived of certain rights, such as the right to vote, to
hold public office, to serve on a jury, or to possess firearms.  The defendant understands that
pursuant to section 203(b) of the Justice For All Act, the Bureau of Prisons or the Probation
Office will collect a DNA sample from the defendant for analysis and indexing.  Finally, the
defendant understands that the Government reserves the right to notify any state or federal
agency by which he is licensed, or with which he does business, as well as any current or future
employer of the fact of his conviction.

Satisfaction of Federal Criminal Liability

The defendant's guilty pleas, if accepted by the Court, will satisfy the federal criminal
liability of the defendant in the District of Connecticut as a result of his participation in the
fraudulent scheme that gave rise to the charges in the Substitute Information.  After the defendant
enters guilty pleas to the offenses charged in the Substitute Information, the Government will
move to dismiss the original Information pending against the defendant in this case, which
Information was filed on July 24, 2008.  

Breach

The defendant understands that if, before sentencing, he violates any term or condition of
this agreement, engages in any criminal activity, or fails to appear for sentencing, the
Government may void all or part of this agreement.  If the agreement is voided in whole or in
part, defendant will not be permitted to withdraw his pleas of guilty.



-12-

No Other Promises

The defendant acknowledges that no other promises, agreements, or conditions have been
entered into other than those set forth in this plea agreement, unless set forth in writing, signed by
all the parties.

This letter shall be presented to the Court, in open court, and filed in this case.

Very truly yours,

NORA R. DANNEHY
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

GEOFFREY M. STONE
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

The defendant certifies that he has read this plea agreement letter and its attachments or
has had it read or translated to him, that he has had ample time to discuss this agreement with
counsel and that he fully understands and accepts its terms.

                                                         ______________
WILLIAM TODD BINGHAM        Date
The Defendant

I have thoroughly read, reviewed and explained this plea agreement to my client who
advises me that he understands and accepts its terms.

____________________________ ______________
ROBERT MIRTO, ESQ.         Date 
Attorney for the Defendant
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STIPULATION OF OFFENSE CONDUCT 
RELATING TO THE CONNECTICUT CASE 

The defendant, William Todd Bingham, and the Government stipulate and agree to the
following offense conduct that gives rise to the defendant’s agreement to plead guilty to the charges in
the Substitute Information:

Mail Fraud Offense

Between approximately May 2001 and June 2007, in the District of Connecticut and elsewhere,
the defendant devised an investment scheme whereby he defrauded investors out of millions of dollars. 
The defendant falsely represented to numerous investors that he was in the business of buying vehicles
and reselling the vehicles to national car rental companies for profit.  The defendant represented to
numerous investors that he had an agreement with a national car rental company, whereby the
defendant purchased, on a weekly basis, large volumes of vehicles at auctions and sold the vehicles to
the national car rental company for a profit of approximately $200-$300 per vehicle.  The defendant
did not, however, have any such agreement with a national car rental company.  The defendant
provided certain investors with fictitious documents regarding his alleged business.  The defendant
provided certain investors with bogus documents, for example, showing that the defendant purchased
7,497 vehicles and made a gross profit of more than $2 million in 2002.   

The defendant solicited and obtained millions of dollars from investors by falsely representing
to investors that he would use their investment funds to purchase vehicles for resale to a national car
rental company and that their investment funds would be secured by a rolling inventory of vehicles
purchased with their funds.  The defendant promised to pay investors fifty percent (50%) of the profits
from the resale of the vehicles and to return to investors the principal amount of their investment at the
end of the investment term. 

By his fraudulent representations, the defendant caused a total of approximately 42 investors to
provide the defendant with approximately $7 million to finance his alleged business.  Certain of the
investors who were defrauded by the defendant were from Connecticut (“Connecticut Investors”). 
Specifically, by his false representations, the defendant caused Connecticut Investors to invest
approximately $1.835 million with the defendant.  The defendant caused Connecticut Investors to wire
a substantial amount of their investment funds from bank accounts in Connecticut and elsewhere to
certain bank accounts in Oklahoma that were controlled by the defendant. 

The defendant did not, as he promised, use the investment funds provided by investors to
purchase vehicles for resale to a national car rental company, but instead converted the funds to his
own use and enrichment.  The defendant used the investment funds to repay earlier investors and to pay
for numerous personal expenses, including to make car payments, to pay his mortgage, to pay credit
card bills, and to write checks to himself and to cash.

To avoid detection and continue the scheme, the defendant made numerous false
representations to investors regarding the use of their investment funds, the value of their investments
and assets held by the defendant.  The defendant lulled investors into believing that their money had
been and would be used as promised, by providing certain investors with fictitious account statements
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purporting to show the number of vehicles sold to a national car rental company and the profits earned
by the investor.  In addition, the defendant lulled investors into believing that their money had been and
would be used as promised, by returning some funds to certain investors and falsely representing that
the funds were profits earned on their investment.  The returns to investors, however, were not profits
earned on their investments, but instead were monies that the defendant received from new investors. 

The defendant promised investors that he would return the principal amount of their
investment, along with profits earned on their investment, at the end of the investment term.  At the
end of the investment term, however, the defendant did not return to investors either the principal
amount of their investment or profits earned on their investment.

For the purpose of executing and attempting to execute his fraudulent scheme, on or about July
27, 2005, the defendant did knowingly cause to be transmitted in interstate commerce, by means of a
wire communication, certain signals and sounds, that is, he caused an investor identified by the initials
“G.M.” to send an interstate wire transmission from California to Lakeside State Bank in Oklahoma,
resulting in the transfer of funds in the amount of $59,990 from G.M.’s bank account in California to
an Oklahoma bank account controlled by the defendant.

Money Laundering Offense

On or about July 27, 2005, the defendant knowingly and willfully engaged in a monetary
transaction in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, involving a financial
institution which is engaged in, and the activities of which affect, interstate commerce, such property
having been derived from specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343) as follows:
on or about July 27, 2005, the defendant caused a cashier’s check in the amount of $15,000 to be drawn
from the account identified by the number XXXX97 at the Lakeside State Bank and transferred to one
of the defendant’s family members, who is identified by the initials “T.B.”  The cashier’s check was
then deposited into the account identified by the number XXXX28 at RCB Bank, which account was
held in the name of T.B. dba T.B. Designs.  At the time that the defendant caused the cashier’s check
in the amount of $15,000 to be drawn from the account identified by the number XXXX97 at Lakeside
State Bank, transferred to T.B. and deposited into the account identified by the number XXXX28 at
RCB Bank, the defendant knew that the $15,000 in funds were profits derived from the defendant’s
wire fraud scheme.  Lakeside State Bank and RCB Bank are financial institutions that are insured by
the FDIC.

The written stipulation above is incorporated into the preceding plea agreement.  It is
understood, however, that the defendant and the Government reserve their right to present additional
relevant offense conduct to the attention of the Court in connection with sentencing. 

___________________________ ____________________________
WILLIAM TODD BINGHAM GEOFFREY M. STONE
THE DEFENDANT ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY

________________________________
ROBERT MIRTO, ESQ.         
ATTORNEY FOR THE DEFENDANT
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RIDER CONCERNING RESTITUTION

The Court shall order that the defendant make restitution under 18 U.S.C. § 3663A.  The order

of restitution may include:

1. If the offense resulted in damage to or loss or destruction of property of a victim of the offense,

the order of restitution shall require the defendant to:

A. Return the property to the owner of the property or someone designated by the owner; or

B. If return of the property is impossible, impracticable, or inadequate, pay an amount

equal to:

The greater of -

(I) the value of the property on the date of the damage, loss, or destruction; or

(II) the value of the property on the date of sentencing, less

the value as of the date the property is returned.

2. In the case of an offense resulting in bodily injury to a victim --

A. pay an amount equal to the costs of necessary medical and related professional services

and devices related to physical, psychiatric, and psychological care; including non-

medical care and treatment rendered in accordance with a method of healing recognized

by the law of the place of treatment;

B. pay an amount equal to the cost of necessary physical and occupational therapy and

rehabilitation; and

C. reimburse the victim for income lost by such victim as a result of such offense;

3.  In the case of an offense resulting in bodily injury that results in the death of the victim, pay an

amount equal to the cost of necessary funeral and related services; and

4. In any case, reimburse the victim for lost income and necessary child care, transportation, and

other expenses incurred during participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or

attendance at proceedings related to the offense.

The order of restitution has the effect of a civil judgment against the defendant.  In addition to
the court ordered restitution, the court may order that the conditions of its order of restitution be made a

condition of probation or supervised release.  Failure to make restitution as ordered may result in a
revocation of probation, or a modification of the conditions of supervised release, or in the defendant

being held in contempt under 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e).  Failure to pay restitution may also result in the
defendant’s re-sentencing to any sentence which might originally have been imposed by the Court. See

18 U.S.C. §3614.  The Court may also order that the defendant give notice to any victim(s) of his
offense under 18 U.S.C. § 3555.  
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ATTACHMENT A

(Description of real property located at 8307 East 370th Road, Oologah, Oklahoma 74053)

The SW/4 of Section 11, Township 23 North, Range 15 East of the I.B. & M., Rogers
County, Oklahoma, LESS the North 200 feet of the West 400 feet of the NW/4 of SW/4 and
LESS the SE/4 of SW/4 of SW/4; AND all of the SE/4 of Section 11, Township 23 North, Range
15 East of I.B. & M., Rogers County, Oklahoma, LESS the SW/4 of SW/4 of SE/4 and LESS all
that part lying South and East of a line described as follows: Beginning at the Northeast corner of
the NW/4 of NE/4 of SE/4, thence in a Southwesterly direction on a straight line to the
Southwest corner of the NE/4 of SW/4 of SE/4, all according to the U.S. Government Survey
thereof.

 


